OA 29-95

IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

CASE NO. 83,897

3 DCA Case No. 93-2055

Fla. Bar No. 137172

JOSEPH E. RAMOS, et ux,  
et al,

Petitioners,

vs.

UNIVISION HOLDINGS, INC.,  
et al,

Respondents.

---

**FILED**

SID J. WHITE

DEC 15 1994

CLERK, SUPREME COURT

By \_\_\_\_\_

Chief Deputy Clerk

BRIEF AND APPENDIX OF PETITIONERS ON THE MERITS

PERSE, P.A. & GINSBERG, P.A.  
and  
GOLDBERG & VOVA, P.A.  
410 Concord Building  
Miami, Florida 33130  
(305) 358-0427  
Attorneys for Petitioners

TOPICAL

INTRODUCTION

The petitioners, Joseph E. Ramos, Laura Ramos, his wife, and Katrina Ramos, a minor, by and through Joseph E. Ramos, her parent and next friend, were the plaintiffs in the trial court and were the appellees in the Third District Court of Appeal. The respondents were the defendants/appellants. In this brief of petitioners on the merits the parties will be referred to as the plaintiffs and the defendants and, where necessary for clarification or emphasis, by name. The symbols "R" and "A" will refer to the record on appeal and the appendix accompanying this brief, respectively. All emphasis has been supplied by counsel unless indicated to the contrary.

II.

STATEMENT OF THE CASE AND FACTS

A.

On or about June 27, 1989 UNIVISION HOLDINGS, INC. [a subsidiary of defendant, HALLMARK] ("OWNER" hereinafter) contracted with the Austin Company ("CONTRACTOR" or "AUSTIN" hereinafter) to perform construction on certain property it owned in Dade County for the purposes of building (Channel 23) television studios (R. 264-303).

Especially pertinent to this proceeding are Articles 3, 20 and 21 of that contract. They provide:

\* \* \*

ARTICLE 3: OWNER'S REPRESENTATIVE

Owner shall provide a Representative authorized to act for him under this contract. Representative, unless otherwise stipulated by Owner in writing, shall be Mr. Thomas Patterson Crown Center Redevelopment Corporation. He shall be available by telephone or in person during working hours as often as may be necessary to approve changes in design or construction.

\* \* \*

#### ARTICLE 20: SAFETY AND SECURITY

All activities of contracting firms on the premises of the Owner are to be conducted in accordance with all applicable laws governing building codes and regulations. Austin will be required to, but is not necessarily limited to, furnishing and installing all materials, equipment and devices and taking all necessary protective measures for the safety of public and private property, workmen and the general public. All Work included in this Contract shall comply with the requirements of all applicable local, state and federal health and safety regulations.

Whenever unsafe working conditions are discovered, the Owner may notify Austin of such, and Austin shall promptly alleviate the unsafe condition. The Owner reserves the right to stop any or all Work affected by those conditions until such time as those conditions are eliminated. Failure of the Owner or his representative to so notify Austin shall not relieve Austin of his sole responsibility to alleviate unsafe conditions. No increase in time or money shall be due Austin due to a suspension of Work under these circumstances.

Austin has the affirmative duty to seek out and identify actual and potential safety hazards, abate them and instruct all personnel on the site accordingly.

The Owner will notify Austin in writing of the presence of any of the Owner's materials in the work area that might reasonably represent a hazard to Austin or the Subcontractor's personnel. It is Austin's responsibility to take whatever precautions may be necessary to alert and protect its personnel and his subcontractors.

Austin will submit to the Owner a "Material Safety Data Sheet" provided by the material manufacturer for any hazardous material that Austin or

its subcontractors bring onto the site. "Hazardous Material" is defined by O.S.H.A. regulation 29 CFR 1910.1200.

\* \* \*

ARTICLE 21: SUSPENSION OF WORK AND TERMINATION

The Owner may suspend the Work or any portion thereof for a period of not more than fourteen (14) calendar days or such further time as agreed upon by Austin by written notice to Austin, which notice shall fix the date on which Work shall be resumed. Austin will resume the Work on the date so fixed. Austin will be allowed an extension of the Interim or Final Contract Time (as the case may be) directly attributable to any suspension, and such extension of Contract Time shall be the only compensation to which Austin shall be entitled.

If Owner elects to suspend all or a portion of the Work because of Austin's failure to correct defective Work, or because of Austin's refusal to supply equipment or materials or adequate labor in accordance with the Contract Documents, no increase in Interim or Final Contract Time or Guaranteed Maximum Amount will be allowed. (R. 264-266, 281, 282).

\* \* \*

B.

On or about September 1, 1989 UNIVISION (OWNER), by contract separate from that which it entered into with AUSTIN ("general"), contracted with CROWN CENTER REDEVELOPMENT CORPORATION (also a subsidiary of defendant, HALLMARK, R. 121 ["CONSULTANT" or "CROWN" hereinafter] to provide consulting services on the Channel 23 job site.

Especially pertinent to this proceeding are Articles 1.1.2 and 1.1.3 which, as relevant, provide:

\* \* \*

1.1.2 The Consultant shall provide Design Review Services to include the following:

a. Review all architectural, mechanical, electrical structural and interiors design for

conformance with owner's requirements, code, and sound design practice.

b. Coordinate structural peer review being performed by others.

c. Conduct periodic site reviews to monitor quality of the work, proper installation of major equipment and utilities, and proper start-up of selected building systems.

1.1.3 The Consultant shall provide Construction Management Services to include the following:

a. Provide full-time on-site review of major construction activities for conformance with approved drawings and specifications.

b. Review progress of the work for conformance with approved schedule requirements.

c. Review and verify contractor requests for payment.

d. Coordinate all site and special inspections, and all materials testing.

e. Review contractor's safety procedures.

f. Coordinate project close-out and start-up procedures. (R. 259, 260).

\* \* \*

C.

Pursuant to the above contracts the following persons became involved:

1. Thomas Patterson: The CROWN employee selected to serve as the OWNER's representative (R. 86-91). His office is in Kansas City.

2. Robert Fortier: The CROWN employee/construction engineer assigned (by Patterson) to the job site (R. 94, 95). It was the first time Fortier was an on-site supervisor for such a large job (R. 250).

3. Robert McCutcheon: An employee of Zion Steel Erectors (R. 41). McCutcheon is an iron worker and was on the job in January of 1990 when the first column collapsed (R. 44). In point of fact he was on the column when it fell. He was not injured (R. 44).

4. Daniel Summa (R. 334-425, 426-428): He is also an iron worker and was employed by Zion Steel during the entire time that Zion did the erection and remodeling. He was the foreman on the job at the time of the second collapse--the collapse in which the plaintiff was injured.

D.

In January of 1990, during the first phase of the subject project, a steel column fell and/or partially collapsed. McCutcheon was on the column when it fell. No one was hurt (R. 48).

Summa is an experienced iron worker. He observed the manner in which the steel columns were being placed--they were using two anchor bolts instead of four--he knew the problem and knew of the dangerous condition (R. 361-366). Summa and others told Fortier, CROWN's employee--the OWNER's representative. Summa (and others) informed Fortier (as opposed to others) because Fortier was pulling inspections. He was checking bolts and matters of that nature (R. 378-380).

According to Summa, Fortier knew they were going to attempt the second phase of the project in the same manner as they attempted phase one--when the collapse occurred (R. 380-382).

Summa specifically, post first collapse, complained to Fortier about the two bolts and told him "they" would hurt someone (R. 412). No action was taken and no changes were made.

On February 22, 1990, almost two months after the first collapse, plaintiff, JOSEPH RAMOS, while employed as an iron worker for Zion, was rendered paraplegic when a steel column collapsed and he fell to the ground (R. 26).

E.

Plaintiffs sued defendants (R. 19) and discovery adduced the following:

1. Although normal procedure would have been for all to look to CROWN CENTER (the consultant) for changes, corrections and matters of safety, in this case the owner (UNIVISION/HALLMARK) desired (and retained) full control of all the changes (R. 113).

2. The first incident (January, 1990) was reported to Patterson (CROWN'S employee--the OWNER'S representative) immediately after it occurred (R. 117). Patterson claimed he told the persons in charge to investigate and correct BUT he did not recall at all if he followed up (R. 118, 119). Patterson claimed it was Fortier's obligation to follow up and make sure the problem was corrected and to report the problem if it was not corrected (R. 118, 119). Fortier worked for Patterson.  
Both worked for CROWN!

3. CROWN CENTER is a subsidiary of HALLMARK and always becomes involved in the construction end of projects on which HALLMARK has an interest (R. 92, 93).

4. Patterson had authority to oversee and resolve issues within the contract but not to authorize change orders. (This was reserved to the owner, UNIVISION, R. 113).

5. Patterson was required to, and did, oversee the safety procedures being used by the contractor (The AUSTIN Company) (R. 122).

6. Patterson admitted Fortier's duties included walking around and viewing--on a day to day basis--what was going on (R. 127; See also: R. 429-432), Job Description for Robert Fortier:

"Position Purpose:

Coordinate construction activities on assigned projects including construction of new facilities and alteration of existing facilities for Hallmark, including all subsidiary corporations." (R. 431).

Patterson also admitted:

- a. Fortier was no expert in safety procedures; and,
- b. He did not know of a job of this nature that Fortier had in the past (R. 130, 131).

7. According to Fortier, he was "the eyes and ears" for Patterson and CROWN CENTER (R. 170-172). It was up to him--the (preceding) work had to be right--before any (further) work proceeded (R. 175). If something needed an immediate fix he made sure it was done (R. 176). He had the authority to stop the job for an obvious safety violation (R. 222, 223).

8. Plaintiffs filed the Affidavit of Daniel Summa (R. 426-428). It reflects:

\* \* \*

1. That he is a member of Local 272 Iron Workers Union and was such at all times material hereto.

2. That during the course of his membership he was employed by and began working for Zion Steel, Inc. on the job known as the Univision Addition, located at 94th Avenue and N.W. 41st Street.

3. That he was employed by Zion Steel during the entire time that said company did erection of the addition and the remodeling of the existing facilities.

4. That from the time that the erection began on the addition to the facilities, he held the position of foreman on said job.

5. That prior to holding the position of foreman on the job, he was a member of the erection crew, and he is familiar with all erection that was done on the premises for the entire scope of Zion Steel's contract, as a subcontractor with Adelman Steel.

6. That sometime during the month of January, 1990, an incident occurred whereby a steel column began to collapse, though it was held up by the horizontal piece of steel that was being placed in the structure at that time that the column began to fall.

7. That as a result of the falling column, a base bolt on the column was broken and said incident could have been prevented, had proper safety precautions been taken and in particular, had there been a lateral support of the column, such as bracing and/or guide wires.

8. That Robert Fortier was the owner's agent on the job, he was well aware of the incident and after said incident there was no investigation by said owner's agent, nor were there any changes in the procedure as directed by the owner's agent and in particular, there were no additional lateral supports on columns after said incident of January, 1990.

9. That at the time that your affiant became foreman of the job and through the entire remainder of

the job, your affiant had constant contact with the owner's agent, Robert Fortier.

10. That Robert Fortier participated directly with the undersigned and influenced the manner in which the work was performed and in particular, reviewed all work as it was being performed, made comments upon the procedure for the work performance, directed and reviewed the procedures that were being used by the erection crews and otherwise acted in the same capacity and with the same control as if he were employed by the general contractor, Austin Company.

11. That at the time that the Plaintiff's accident occurred on February 22, 1990, no guide wires or other lateral support were being used to brace the columns when horizontal steel trusses and/or other steel supports were being erected from column to column.

12. That as a result of failure to have adequate lateral supports on the columns, the column upon which the Plaintiff, JOSEPH RAMOS and ROBERT McCUTCHEON were working upon collapsed causing injuries to JOSEPH RAMOS." (R. 426-428)

\* \* \*

F.

The defendants moved for summary judgment and argued, in essence and pertinent part:

\* \* \*

"4. In the case at bar, it is uncontradicted that neither the owner, nor the owner's representative, directly influenced the manner in which the general contractor performed the work. The owner's representative at the job site was present only for the purposes of assuring that the general contractor complied with the plans and specifications of the contract. At no time, did the owner or the owner's representative influence the manner in which the actual construction project was performed. Further, there is no testimony that the owner, or the owner's representative, either created the condition which led to the injuries sustained by the Plaintiff in this case or approved the existence of that condition prior to the time that the injury occurred.

WHEREFORE, in light of the exclusivity of liability provided for in the Florida Worker's

Compensation Statute, the above named Defendants are entitled to Final Summary Judgment in their favor herein." (R. 253)

\* \* \*

The defendants' motion drew no distinctions between any of the three and provided no argument at all as to why HALLMARK would be entitled to summary judgment. In truth, given the nature of the plaintiffs' pleadings and the defendants' acknowledgment concerning the status of UNIVISION and CROWN as being subsidiaries of HALLMARK, there existed no factual basis for HALLMARK to premise an argument (much less prevail on such motion). The trial court denied defendants' motion for summary judgment.

On appeal the District Court reversed as to all three defendants. This proceeding followed.

The plaintiffs reserve the right to argue the significance of the above facts and other relevant record facts in the argument portion of this brief.

III.

QUESTION PRESENTED

WHETHER THE TRIAL COURT WAS CORRECT IN DETERMINING THAT THE DEFENDANTS WERE NOT ENTITLED TO WORKERS' COMPENSATION IMMUNITY AS A MATTER OF LAW.

IV.

SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

The plaintiffs would suggest to this Court that the trial court was correct in determining that the defendants were not entitled to workers' compensation immunity as a matter of law. For the reasons to be advanced herein, the opinion of the Third

District should be quashed, the order denying the defendants' motion for summary final judgment should be affirmed and this case should be remanded for a jury trial on all factual issues.

Florida Supreme Court precedent is both well settled and long standing. Where an engineer/consultant is employed by a construction project's owner and is an independent contractor, said consultant will be held liable for damages [sustained by persons lawfully on the premises] as a result of its negligence as defined by the standards analogous to architects. There is, of course, no contention here (nor can there be) that CROWN was anything else but an independent contractor performing services for the OWNER, UNIVISION/HALLMARK.

In this case CROWN contracted directly with UNIVISION for purposes of providing on site supervision of the project. CROWN, an independent contractor, did not "sub" out any part of the job, CROWN assumed its own control over the project and in no wise can be either "an owner" or a "contractor" privileged to claim the defense of workers' compensation immunity. It must be concluded therefrom that the trial court was correct in denying the defendants' motion for summary judgment.

Likewise, the trial court was correct in denying the motion for summary judgment of defendant, UNIVISION. The facts before this Court reflect that UNIVISION (the OWNER) contracted with AUSTIN (the general). AUSTIN sub-contracted out a part of its contract to Zion Steel, the plaintiff's employer. The Third District's opinion making UNIVISION (the OWNER) a "statutory

employer" also served (in the Third District) to insulate CROWN from suit by the plaintiffs. This obtuse result created conflict with several opinions all of which recognize and hold that an architect/consulting engineering firm which contracts with the owner (as opposed to contracting with the general contractor and/or employer, etc.) is not possessed of compensation immunity and is amenable to a third party tort suit. Stated another way (as applicable under the facts and circumstances of this case), CROWN (the consulting firm) was either negligent or was not negligent. Likewise, UNIVISION (the OWNER) was either negligent or not negligent. Neither one was entitled to assert, under the present facts, the defense of workers' compensation immunity! In this case the trial court correctly denied the defendants' motion for summary final judgment. Reversal by the Third District Court of Appeal was legally erroneous. UNIVISION was neither a "contractor" nor an "employer," and RAMOS was not an "employee" of UNIVISION in the ordinary sense that these words are used. Because UNIVISION was not a contractor or the employer of RAMOS and did not otherwise have any statutory duty to provide workers' compensation coverage, UNIVISION was not the statutory employer of RAMOS and did not enjoy the immunity provided by Section 440.11 from RAMOS' tort suit. Because this is obviously the law in the State of Florida and further because the same analysis can be made with respect to CROWN (the consulting engineer), it must

again be concluded that the trial court was correct in its ruling.

Even if one were to ignore the fact that there are legal distinctions between the three defendants, it is clear that under the facts of this case, properly viewed, neither UNIVISION nor CROWN were entitled to workers' compensation immunity as a matter of law.

First, and foremost, it must be emphasized that the record before this Court contains testimony that although normal procedures would have been for all to look to the consultant for purposes of "change," in this case the OWNER desired (and retained) full control of all the changes (R. 113). The incident with the January 19, 1990, collapse (the first collapse) was reported to Patterson (the OWNER'S agent) immediately after it occurred (R. 117). Patterson claimed he told the persons in charge to investigate and to correct! The record further reflects, however, that he did not recall at all if he followed up (R. 118, 119). Patterson stated it was Fortier's obligation (the on-site "eyes and ears" of the owner) to follow up and make sure the problem was corrected and to report the problem if it was not corrected (R. 118, 119). Fortier worked for Patterson. Both worked for CROWN! CROWN was the OWNER'S agent!

Under the contract between the OWNER and the CONTRACTOR, the OWNER reserved the right not only to stop any and all work but additionally retained the right to suspend the work (R. 281,

282). Patterson had the authority to oversee and resolve issues within the contract but not to authorize change orders (this was reserved to the OWNER). (R. 113) Fortier testified it was up to him to make sure that the preceding work was done correctly before any further work proceeded (R. 175). If something needed an immediate fix, Fortier made sure it was done. Fortier had the right to make any obvious immediate safety changes necessary. The plaintiffs would suggest to this Court genuine issues of material fact abound throughout the subject record concerning the OWNER'S participation and direction on this project. Indeed, one need look no further than the affidavit of Daniel Summa to establish the correctness of this assertion.

The facts and circumstances of this case properly viewed bring this case within well settled principles of Florida jurisprudence.

UNIVISION is responsible for the conduct of its agents, servants and/or employees especially where, as here, it specifically reserved control over changes and safety. Because the matters of control, direction, negligence and credibility are all matters of fact for the trier of fact, it must be concluded that the trial court was correct in denying the defendants' motion for summary judgment. Because the Third District reversed the trial court utilizing as justification therefor both inapplicable and legally incorrect principles of Florida jurisprudence, the opinion should be quashed and harmony restored to the District Courts.

V.

ARGUMENT

THE TRIAL COURT WAS CORRECT IN DETERMINING THAT THE DEFENDANTS WERE NOT ENTITLED TO WORKERS' COMPENSATION IMMUNITY AS A MATTER OF LAW.

The plaintiffs would suggest to this Court that the trial court was correct in determining that the defendants were not entitled to workers' compensation immunity as a matter of law. As a result, the opinion of the Third District should be quashed, the order denying defendants' motion for summary final judgment should be affirmed and this case should be remanded for a jury trial on all factual issues.

A.

THE OBVIOUS (AND WELL SETTLED) CONTRACTUAL DUTY  
[THE CONTRACT BETWEEN UNIVISION (OWNER)  
AND CROWN (CONSULTANT)]

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