0A 2-9-95



JAN 18 1995

IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

CASE NO. 83,897

CLERK, SUPREME COURT By_____

Chief Deputy Clerk

JOSEPH E. RAMOS, LAURA RAMOS, his wife, and KATRINA RAMOS, a minor, by and through JOSEPH E. RAMOS, her parent and next friend,

Third District Court of Appeals, Case No. 93-2055

Petitioners,

vs.

UNIVISION HOLDINGS, INC., CROWN CENTER REDEVELOPMENT CORPORATION, and HALLMARK CARDS, INCORPORATED,

Respondents.

RESPONDENTS' ANSWER BRIEF ON THE MERITS

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

SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

The District Court in its opinion below relied upon earlier cases out of that district for the proposition that an owner hiring a general contractor is considered a "statutory employer" under the worker's compensation immunity statute. Those earlier cases stated this proposition and cited, as authority, this Court's decisions in <u>Conklin v.</u> <u>Cohen</u>, 287 So.2d 56 (Fla. 1993), <u>Smith v. Ussery</u>, 261 So.2d 164 (Fla. 1972), and <u>Jones v. Florida Power Corp.</u>, 72 So.2d 285 (Fla. 1954).

A close reading of those cases out of this Court, however, indicates that they do not stand for the proposition indicated by the district court. It is the liability to secure compensation which gives a party immunity from suit as a third-party tortfeasor under the worker's compensation law. UNIVISION, the owner here, was not obligated to provide worker's compensation benefits to the employees of the contractors on the job site and, hence, under the cited precedents, would not be entitled to tort <u>immunity</u> under the statute.

This, however, is not dispositive of the matter <u>sub</u> <u>judice</u> because the court below went on to determine, beyond the issue of the application of the worker's compensation immunity statute to this case, that under general premises liability law the Defendants would not be liable for the injuries alleged by the Petitioners.

In its <u>Conklin</u> decision, this Court recognized that an owner of property is not liable for injuries sustained by a contractor's employers unless one of two conditions exist:

the owner may be held liable if it has actively participated in the construction project to the extent of directly influencing the manner in which the work has been performed; or, the owner has either negligently created or negligently approved a dangerous condition resulting in an injury or death to an employee.

Although the district court may have misapprehended the application of the worker's compensation immunity statute to the facts and circumstances of the case at bar, its decision went beyond the application of this principle and determined that under general premises liability law, the Defendants were entitled to summary judgment.

It appears clear in Florida that an owner who reserves the right to inspect the work of contractors on a job site to determine if the work conforms to the contract, and has reserved the right to reject unsatisfactory work, may do so without fear of the imposition of tort liability. Further, the fact that an owner reserves the right to stop a project because of violation of safety regulations does not amount to a usurpation of the general contractor's duties so as to impose liability for injuries sustained by a contractor's employee.

Accordingly, the district court's decision in this case was eminently correct. The Respondents do concede that there

was a misapplication of the worker's compensation immunity statute in the court's <u>opinion</u> below, but would urge that the <u>decision</u> of the district court in finding that summary judgment was appropriate for the Respondents in this matter was correct. Accordingly, the district court should be affirmed in its decision.

ARGUMENT

This Court has for some time recognized that it is the liability to secure compensation which gives a party immunity from suit as a third-party tortfeasor under the worker's compensation law. <u>Conklin v. Cohen</u>, 287 So.2d 56 (Fla. 1993).

In <u>Conklin</u>, this Court reaffirmed its holding in <u>Jones</u> <u>v. Florida Power Corp.</u>, 72 So.2d 285 (Fla. 1954), that an owner who had no liability under the law to secure compensation for a contractor's employee did not qualify as either a "contractor" or "statutory employer".

In <u>Conklin</u>, however, this Court also recognized that an owner is not liable for injuries sustained by a contractor's employees, under general premises liability law, unless one of two conditions exist:

... The owner may be held liable if he has been actively participating in the

construction to the extent that he directly influences the manner in which the work is performed. Conversely, if the owner is a passive non-participant, exercising no direct control over the project, he cannot be held liable. то impose liability upon an owner who is not an employer as defined by the statute, one or more specific identifiable acts of negligence, i.e., acts either negligently creating or negligently approving the dangerous condition resulting in the injury or death to the employee, must be established.

Conklin, at page 60.

In its opinion below, the District Court of Appeal, relied upon its earlier case in <u>Croon v. Quayside Assoc.</u>, <u>Ltd.</u>, 464 So.2d 178 (Fla. 3rd DCA 1985), for the proposition that an owner hiring a general contractor is considered a "statutory employer" under the immunity statute. For this proposition, the <u>Croon</u> opinion cited to this Court's decisions in <u>Conklin</u>; <u>Smith v. Ussery</u>, 261 So.2d 164 (Fla. 1972); and <u>Jones</u>.

It does appear, however, upon close reading of those decisions, that they do <u>not</u> stand for the proposition indicated in <u>Croon</u>. Under this Court's precedents, an owner is only entitled to immunity if it obligated to provide worker's compensation benefits. This was not the case here. UNIVISION was not obliged to secure compensation for the

employees of its contractors on the job site, this was an obligation of the general contractor, the Austin Company.

It does appear, then, that the District Court here may have misapprehended the earlier decisions of this Court in its statement of the principle that a property owner becomes a "statutory employer" upon the execution of a general contract. This misapprehension, however, is not dispositive of the matter <u>sub judice</u> because the District Court went on to determine, beyond the issue of the application of the immunity statute, that under general premises liability law, neither of the two exceptions to an owner's non-liability applied to this case. Accordingly, its decision that summary judgment ought to be entered for the Defendants on this basis was correct.

The district court determined that there was no showing that either UNIVISION or CROWN CENTER "actively participated" in the construction project to the point of directly influencing the manner in which the work was performed, or negligently created or approved a dangerous condition on the job site. Its analysis of the case on this issue was therefore eminently correct and its remand to enter summary judgment for the Defendants should be affirmed.

* * * * *

The first exception to the general rule mentioned above allows the imposition of liability upon an owner who interferes or meddles with a job to the extent of assuming detailed direction of it. As noted in the case of <u>City of</u> <u>Miami v. Perez</u>, 509 So.2d 343 (Fla. 3rd DCA), <u>rev. denied</u>, 519 So.2d 987 (Fla. 1987), an owner has the right to inspect the work of contractors on a job site to determine if the work conforms to the contract and has the right to reject unsatisfactory work and demand that it be made satisfactory without fear of the imposition of tort liability. <u>City of</u> <u>Miami</u>, at page 346. <u>See also</u>, <u>Cadillac Fairview of Florida</u>, Inc. v. Cespedes, 468 So.2d 417 (Fla. 3rd DCA 1985).

The fact that an owner reserves the right to inspect work and to reject unsatisfactory work does not act as a usurpation of control sufficient to change an owner from a passive non-participant to an active participant in the construction. <u>City of Miami</u>, at page 346.

This principle is not altered either by the fact that an owner may stop work which is not being properly performed, <u>City of Miami</u>, at page 346; 41 Am.Jur.2d, <u>Independent</u> <u>Contractors</u> §10 (1968); or, that the owner has reserved a contractual right to require its general contractor to comply with safety regulations. <u>City of Miami</u>, at page 347;

Vorndran v. Wright, 367 So.2d 1070 (Fla. 3rd DCA), <u>cert.</u> denied, 378 So.2d 350 (Fla. 1979).

In the case <u>sub judice</u>, UNIVISION, as owner, did reserve the right to inspect the work being performed by The Austin Company and to reject any work not properly performed. Further, it reserved the right to stop the project if it deemed necessary. As seen above, these contractual reservations by UNIVISION do not act to impose liability upon it under the facts and circumstances involved in this case.

While it is true that one of CROWN CENTER's contractual responsibilities to UNIVISION was to "review contractor's safety procedures" (R. 261), this reservation is an owner's right, and will not act to impose tort liability upon it.

The applicability of the second exception to the general rule was addressed in the case of <u>Skow v. Department of</u> <u>Transportation</u>, 468 So.2d 422 (Fla. 1st DCA 1985), where arguments similar to those of the Plaintiffs here were made:

> Appellants argued that DOT owed Timmy Skow a legal duty to eliminate unsafe working conditions that it knew or should have known would expose workers substantial risk of harm. to а Notwithstanding the general rule that one who hires an independent contractor is not liable for any injuries sustained by that contractor's employees in their Ness v. Independent work, Van___ Construction Co., 392 So.2d 1017 (Fla. 5th DCA 1981), Appellants argued that a legal duty arose because DOT assumed such detailed control over the work that

the independent-contractor relationship between DOT and Capelletti ceased to exist. Additionally, Appellants assert that Timmy Skow's work was inherently dangerous, that he was allowed to work without a safety belt, and that DOT breached its duties to enforce the requirements of the Capelletti-DOT contract and federal safety regulations by failing to require Capelletti to bridge workers with safety provide belts.

<u>Skow</u>, at pps. 423, 424.

The Skow court found that the contract between the DOT and Capelletti required the contractor to comply with all applicable state and federal laws governing safety and to provide safeguards and safe equipment for its employees. The contract was further found to provide that the DOT had the authority to shut down the job site for any breach of these safety requirements, as UNIVISION did here. The contract, however, did not impose an explicit duty on the owner (DOT) inspect, and <u>correct</u> violations to monitor, by the contractor. As such, the court determined that even though the DOT exercised general supervision of the project, there was no exercise of control over the work itself which was sufficient to take the case out of the general rule ("one who hires an independent contractor is not liable for injuries sustained by that contractor's employees in their The summary judgment for the DOT was, thus, work"). affirmed.

In accord with <u>Skow</u> is the case of <u>Mozee v. Champion</u> <u>International Corporation</u>, 554 So.2d 596 (Fla. 1st DCA 1989). That Court held an owner is not responsible for a contractor's safety violations in situations where an owner's representative was present at the construction site for the purposes of assuring quality control and compliance with the plans and specifications for the construction.

In the case of <u>Vorndran v. Wright</u>, 367 So.2d 1070 (Fla. 3rd DCA 1979), the Court noted that, in Florida, it is the prime responsibility of the <u>contractor</u> to comply with safety regulations. There, an architect was found not to be liable for the failure of the contractor to comply with safety regulations where the architect's contract for supervision failed to impose upon him a duty to <u>supervise and control the</u> <u>actual method of construction utilized by the contractor</u>.

In <u>Vorndran</u>, the court found that the architect had no control over the <u>method of construction utilized</u> and that there was no showing that he attempted to exercise any such control. Based on those undisputed facts, summary judgment in his favor was affirmed.

For the same reasons outlined in the court decisions discussed above, here there is no showing by competent evidence in the record that either UNIVISION or CROWN CENTER in any way attempted to exercise control over the "means and

methods" utilized by the general contractor for the construction of the project or safety.

The Plaintiffs filed in the trial court an affidavit of Daniel Summa, which was contrary to his deposition testimony, and which contained the following statement:

> "That Robert Fortier participated directly with theundersigned and influenced the manner in which the work was performed and in particular, reviewed all work as it was being performed, made comments upon the procedure of the work performance, directed and reviewed the procedures that were used by the erection crews and otherwise acted in the same capacity and with the same control as if he were employed by the general contractor, Austin Company".

It should be noted that a Court, on summary judgment, should not entertain affidavits which merely contain conclusions which are not factual. As such, Summa's affidavit, being nothing more than a summary of conclusions, should not have been considered by the trial court. <u>See</u>, <u>e.g.</u>, <u>Seinfeld v. Commercial Bank and Trust Company</u>, 405 So.2d 1039 (Fla. 3rd DCA 1981); and, <u>Falls Poultry</u> <u>Distributing Co. v. Canner</u>, 372 So.2d 129 (Fla. 3rd DCA 1979).

The District Court noted in its decision that there is no showing in this case that either UNIVISION or CROWN CENTER meddled with, or influenced, the manner and methods undertaken by the contractor to construct the project involved. Accordingly, its decision reversing the trial court with instructions to enter judgment for UNIVISION and CROWN CENTER is a correct one.

It is factually indisputable that HALLMARK's involvement in this case is only as the parent corporation of UNIVISION. There are no facts in this record which would obviate the general proposition of law that ownership by one corporation of stock in another corporation does not destroy the identity of the latter as a distinct legal entity. <u>St. Petersburg</u> <u>Sheraton Corporation v. Stuart</u>, 242 So.2d 185 (Fla. 2nd DCA 1970). As such, in light of the absence of any evidence that would make HALLMARK CARDS liable for any of the actions of its subsidiaries, then as to this Defendant too, the District Court, was correct in ordering summary judgment in its favor

CONCLUSION

While the District Court of Appeal in the case <u>sub</u> <u>judice</u> may have misapprehended earlier decisions from this Court as to the appropriateness of extending worker's compensation immunity to an owner who has hired a general contractor, the Court was correct in its application of general premises liability law to the facts at bar and in

determining that summary judgment was appropriate in favor of the Defendants. While this Court may wish to correct the misapprehended statement of law on the application of the worker's compensation immunity in the District Court's <u>opinion</u>, it is urged that the <u>decision</u> of the District Court is correct and should be affirmed. <u>See</u>, <u>Bould v. Touchette</u>, 349 So.2d 1181 (Fla. 1977); <u>In Re Estate of Yohn</u>, 238 So.2d 290 (Fla. 1970); <u>Traveler's Indemnity Co. v. Johnson</u>, 201 So.2d 705 (Fla. 1967); <u>Direct Oil Corp. v. Brown</u>, 178 So.2d 13 (Fla. 1965); <u>Pinkerton-Hays Lumber Co. v. Pope</u>, 127 So.2d 441 (Fla. 1961): and, 13 Fla.Jur.2d, <u>Courts and Judges</u> §54.